Appeal No. 22-CV-34



Received 05/12/2022 07:55 PM

Filed 05/12/2022 07:55 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

1814 INGLESIDE, LLC. et al.

Appellants,

v.

SANTORINI CAPITAL, LLC,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS 1814 INGLESIDE, LLC and CHRISTOPHER HARRISON

<u>/s/Vanessa Carpenter Lourie</u>

)

)

CAB577-21

Vanessa Carpenter Lourie, #250068 4400 MacArthur Blvd., NW, Suite 205 Washington, D.C. 20007-2521 (202) 342-8000 (Office) (202) 342-9000 (Facsimile) vlourie@carpenterlourie.com Counsel for Appellants 1814 INGLESIDE, LLC and Christopher Harrison

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellants, 1814 INGLESIDE, LLC and Christopher Harrison, assert that this appeal is from a final judgment which disposed of all of the claims of Appellee, SANTORINI CAPITAL, LLC, against the Appellants.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether D.C. Code §42-3191.01, the Coronavirus Support Temporary Amendment Act of 2020, applied to the claim filed by the Appellee. 2. Whether the trial court improperly awarded damages in the amount of \$1,373,717.45.

3. Whether the trial court improperly awarded legal fees to the Appellee.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 25, 2021 Appellee Santorini Capital, LLC ("Santorini") filed its Complaint against the Appellants, 1814 Ingleside, LLC (hereinafter referred to as the "Ingleside") and Christopher Harrison (hereinafter referred to as "Harrison"). The basis of the breach of contract claim was that Ingleside defaulted on two (2) Deed of Trust Notes ("Notes") which were personally guaranteed by Harrison.

The Notes were secured by a residential dwelling located at 1814 Ingleside Terrace, N.W., Washington, D.C ("Property"). In response to the Complaint, on March 31, 2021, Appellants filed a motion to dismiss on the basis of D.C. Code §42-3191.01, the Coronavirus Support Temporary Amendment Act of 2020 ("Act") which required mortgage holders to develop and implement a deferment plan for the outstanding mortgage loans. On May 3, 2021, the trial court denied the motion to dismiss, not based on the mortgage relief statute, but based on D.C. Code §283814(b)(1A).

On November 1, 2021, Santorini filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellants filed an Opposition to Santorini's Motion for Summary Judgment on November 15, 2021. On November 18, 2021, the trial court entered an order granting the Santorini's Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellants' filed a motion for reconsideration of the summary judgment which the court denied on December 22, 2021. On December 3, 2021 Santorini filed a motion for attorneys' fees and costs which the court granted in part on December 22, 2021. The Appellants' Notice of Appeal was timely filed on January 21, 2022.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about February 5, 2021, Santorini filed its Complaint against Harrison Ingleside for Breach of Contract. The basis of the Breach of Contract claim was that Ingleside defaulted on two (2) Deed of Trust Notes ("Notes") which were personally guaranteed by Harrison. The Notes were secured by a residential dwelling located at 1814 Ingleside Terrace, N.W., Washington, D.C. Santorini's Complaint included a demand for pre- and post-judgment interest. Prior to the filing of the Complaint, Santorini delivered at least three (3) default letters to the Appellants, including demands for lump sum payments and threats to foreclose on the Property. In one of the default letters dated November 27, 2020, Santorini acknowledges that there was an agreement to extend the maturity date to October 31, 2020. App. at 36. By letter dated January 8, 2021, Santorini was provided with a copy of the current statute regarding restrictions on collection actions regarding both residential and commercial mortgages because of the existing COVID-19 public health emergency. App. at 38.

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Standards of Appellate Review</u>

The Court of Appeals reviews denial of a motion to dismiss based on interpretation of a statute *de novo*. <u>Pardue v. The Center City Consortium</u> <u>Schools of the Archdiocese of Washington, Inc.</u>, 875 A.2d 669 (2005); <u>Fred F.</u> <u>Blanken & Co. v. District of Columbia Dept. of Employment Services</u>, 825 A.2d 894 (2003). Likewise, this Court reviews summary judgments *de novo*. <u>Liu v. U.S. Bank National Association, 179 A. 3d 871 (2018)</u>. Therefore, this Court must independently determine the validity of the denial of the Appellants' motion to dismiss, and the granting of Santorini's motion summary judgment. It is the Appellants' contention that upon conducting an independent review of the record, and the current state of the law, this Court will find that the Complaint should have been dismissed, and that the summary judgment entered by the trial court should be reversed.

In reviewing the summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard as the trial court did in ruling on the motion. Bartel v. Bank of America Corporation, 193 A.3d 767, 770-771 (2018) citing Washington v. District of Columbia, 137 A.3d 170, 173 (D.C. 2016). As with the trial court, this Court is required to review the record in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Bartel, supra. "Summary judgment may be granted 'only if' the pleadings, the discovery and disclosure materials on file, and any affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." <u>Qatar National Bank v. Winmar, Inc.</u>, 650 F.Supp.2d 1, 5 (2009). In other words, the moving party must satisfy two requirements: first, demonstrate that there is no "genuine" factual dispute and, second, that if there is it is "material" to the case. "A dispute over a material fact is 'genuine' if 'the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party.' " Arrington v. United States, 473 F.3d

329, 333 (D.C.Cir.2006) (quoting <u>Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.</u>, 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). "A fact is 'material' if it might affect the outcome of the case under the substantive governing law." <u>Liberty Lobby</u>, 477 U.S. at 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505. Santorini did not meet this standard. As set forth below, there were material facts which were in dispute which should have precluded the entry of summary judgment in Santorini's favor.

"It is axiomatic that summary judgment is an extreme remedy which is appropriate only when the moving party is clearly entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The movant in such a case must bear the burden of proving that no genuine issue of material fact exists. Moreover, all inferences which may be drawn from subsidiary facts are to be resolved against him." <u>Howard v. Riggs Nat'l Bank</u>, 432 A.2d 701, 705-706 (D.C.1981). It is Appellants' contention that upon conducting an independent review of the record, and the current state of the law, this Court will find that summary judgment entered by the trial court against Ingleside and Harrison in favor of Santorini should be reversed in its entirety.

B. <u>Santorini Was Precluded From Pursuing Collection of the Full</u> <u>Amount Due On the Deed of Trust Notes During the COVID-</u> <u>19 Emergency Period and for Sixty (60) Days Thereafter.</u>

Among the many restrictions that were enacted in response to the global COVID-19 pandemic, the District of Columbia enacted the Coronavirus Support Temporary Amendment Act of 2020 ("Act") which became effective on October 9, 2020. The Act included Chapter 31H - Mortgage Relief During a Public Health Emergency which was codified at D.C. Code §42-3191.01. The Mortgage Relief provisions were in effect for a period of sixty (60) days after the end of a declared public health emergency. The declaration by the Mayor of the COVID-19 public health emergency was in effect at the time of the filing of the Complaint by Santorini, and did not expire until April 16, 2022. App. 146-149.

The loan maturity was at the earliest October 31, 2020 and the January 31, 2021, which was <u>after</u> the date of enactment of the Covid-19 emergency legislation on October 9, 2020. App. 36, 39-41. The emergency legislation applied to both residential and commercial loans. D.C. Code §42-3191.01 (a). Therefore, the mortgage loans were subject to the provisions of the mortgage relief provisions as outlined in the Act.

The statute specifically required that mortgage lenders establish an application criteria and procedures to allow borrowers to apply for deferment. D.C. Code §42-3191.01(b). Prior to the filing of the lawsuit, although aware of the statutory requirements, Santorini failed to offer a payment plan in compliance with the mortgage deferment requirements. Having failed to comply with the statute, Santorini should have been prohibited from pursuing the breach of contract lawsuit.

Appellants filed their motion to dismiss on the basis that Santorini failed to comply with the Act. App. 28-52. In opposition to the motion, Santorini conceded that it failed to establish application criteria and procedures for a deferment program. App. 53-60. Although Santorini requested that the motion to dismiss be denied, it requested in the alternative that the court stay the case until Act expired.

Rather than address the application of the Act in denying the motion, the trial court inexplicably applied D.C. Code §28-3814(b)(1A) regarding the stay on collection lawsuits, and concluded that since mortgages were not included in that statute, then the lawsuit would not be dismissed. Record at 24.

C. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact are Not Supported by the Record.

A trial court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous and should be reversed if they are not supported by the substantial evidence in the record. <u>Anderson, supra</u>. In this case, the trial court supported its summary judgment decision based on disputed factual findings which were not supported by the evidence in the record and a misapprehension of the law.

In Santorini's unverified Complaint, filed on March 8, 2021, it alleged that Appellants owed a total sum of \$1,278,372.73 on two unpaid Promissory Notes. Santorini filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on November 1, 2021. Rec. at 46. In support of its motion, Santorini failed to state the amount it claimed to be due. The Statement of Undisputed Facts simply states the existence of the loans, and the breach of the loans, but makes no mention of the amount due as of the date of the motion. The Affidavit of Steven Snider filed in support of the motion likewise did not provide a statement as to the amount then due on the two (2) Promissory Notes as of the date of the Affidavit. The only place in which an amount is claimed is in the proposed Order submitted with the motion in which Santorini includes a figure of \$1,373,717.45. Santorini wholly failed to state under oath how the proposed judgment amount was calculated.

In opposition to the motion for summary judgment, Appellants' submitted the Affidavit of Christopher Harrison in which he stated under oath that he continued to make payments on the loans during the course of the litigation. Rec. at 48. Appellants filed their opposition on November 15, 2021. Santorini did not file a Reply to the Opposition contesting Harrison's sworn statement that he continued to make payments on the Promissory Notes. A Reply would have been due on November 22, 2021. However, prior to any response from Santorini, and prior to the due date for a Reply, the trial court entered judgment on the amount Santorini included in its proposed Order with absolutely no sworn statement as to how that amount was calculated. Rec. at 50.

It is without a doubt a material fact as to the amount to which Santorini was entitled, even if there is no dispute that a contract was breached. Santorini wholly failed to even address the issue of the amount in its motion. As the trial court acknowledged in its Order granting the motion, it is the movant's burden to prove that it is entitled to judgment. That burden includes not only undisputed proof as to the breach of contract, but also undisputed proof as to the amount of damages. In its opposition to the motion, in addition to providing a sworn statement that payments were made on the loans during the course of the litigation, Appellants made the argument that the Act among other things, governed the calculation of the amount due. In granting the motion for summary judgment, the trial court misinterpreted Appellants' argument. The trial court referred back to its denial of Appellants' motion to dismiss the Complaint based on the Act. In denying the motion to dismiss, the trial court merely held that the COVID Support Act did not preclude the filing of the case. There was no determination that the Act did not apply at all with respect to prohibited charges against both commercial and residential loans during the public health emergency.

For instance, D.C. Code §42-3191.01(a)(2) required, among other things, that the lender waive late fees, processing fees, or any other fees accrued during the public health emergency. There is no means by which the court could conclude that all such fees were waived. Santorini simply included a figure for the total amount claimed to be due with no itemization as to how they calculated the amount. Therefore, the request was wholly deficient. No representative of Santorini swore to any amount claimed to be due. No representative of Santorini swore to an itemization of the requested judgment amount showing that it complied, not only with the terms of the loans, but also the provisions of the Act.

Without knowing how Santorini determined the amount that was due, Appellants were at a disadvantage in opposing the motion in full other than to inform the court that payments were made during the litigation. If Santorini had provided a sworn statement as to how it calculated the amounts due, as should been required prior to entering judgment on its behalf, then Appellants would have been in position to substantively present its argument in opposition to the manner of the calculation. SCR-Civil 56(e) specifically provides that if "a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or fails to properly address another party's assertion of fact as required by Rule 56 (c)" then the court should issue an appropriate order to address the deficiency.

In view of the foregoing, the Appellants' take the position that the entry of summary judgment should be reversed. At a minimum, even if this Court were to find that this lawsuit was proper, Santorini should have been required to provide a sworn statement setting forth how it calculated the amount claimed to be due, including all charges assessed to the balances on the loans. Given the state of the record, it was impossible for either the Appellants or the trial court to know that the amount claimed was accurate based on either the terms of the Promissory Notes, or the COVID Support Act.

As such, this Court shall find that the summary judgment entered by the trial court against the Ingleside and Harrison in favor of Santorini should be reversed in its entirety.

D. <u>Santorini Should Not Have Been Awarded Attorneys' Fees As</u> <u>Its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs Failed to Provide</u> <u>Sufficient Information for the Trial Court To Establish A</u> <u>Reasonable Fee</u>

To merit an award of attorneys' fees the prevailing party must submit the experience of the attorney for the hours worked as "the experience level of the attorney is an integral part of the calculation of attorneys' fees under the Laffey Matrix," which is used in the District of Columbia. <u>Lively v.</u> <u>Packaging Ass'n</u>, 930 A.2d 984, 989. The number of years of practice is only one relevant factor. <u>See Evans v. Sheraton Park Hotel</u>, 503 F.2d 177, 187 (D.C. Cir. 1974). Santorini's motion for attorneys' fees failed to provide sufficient information regarding the experience, reputation, hourly rate, and ability of all of the attorneys that provided work on this case in accordance with applicable standards. App. at 106-128. The trial court recognized the deficiency in the motion filed by Santorini, but nonetheless, awarded fees. Rec. at 62.

The trial court was not provided with any information as to the nature of the experience of each attorney. <u>See Hampton Courts Tenants Ass'n v.</u> <u>District of Columbia Rental Housing Commission</u>, 599 A.2d 1113 (1991). The only representation made in Santorini's request for attorneys' fees is an Affidavit regarding only one attorney, Roger C. Simmons. App. at 115-118. As submitted, Santorini's motion for attorneys' fees was missing the following information for all attorneys that provided work on this case:

- (i) No information was provided as to the number of years each attorney has practiced.
- (ii) No information was provided as to the nature of the experience of each attorney.
- (iii) No Affidavits were submitted in support of the rates claimed by each attorney that provided work on this case.

In order to establish a reasonable fee, the court must exclude hours that are excessive, redundant, or otherwise unnecessary. The attorney seeking fees must maintain contemporaneous, complete and standardized time records which accurately reflect the work done. <u>Craig v. District of</u> <u>Columbia</u>, 197 F. Supp. 3d 268 (2016). Santorini submitted a Ledger in support of its motion. App. at 119-128. The Ledger largely redacted the actual work performed. Thus, it was impossible for the court to conduct a meaningful analysis of the fees requested, and to determine whether any of the work was excessive, redundant, or otherwise unnecessary.

When determining an award of attorneys' fees, "[t]he Court shall find the facts and state its conclusions of law as provided in Rule 52(a)." SCR-Civil 54(d)(2)(C). "The failure to articulate the reasons for a particular fee award renders the trial court's determination effectively unreviewable and has been held to constitute an abuse of discretion warranting reversal." <u>Frazier v. Franklin Inv. Co.</u>, 468 A.2d 1338, 1341 (D.C. 1983). In <u>Coulter v.</u> <u>Gerald Family Care, P.C.</u> 964 A.2d 170 (2009) this Court found that the trial court erred in awarding attorneys' fees without findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of the fee award as Rule 54(d)(2) requires and vacated the entire award of attorneys' fees. *Id.* at 204.

The trial court is required to make an independent determination regarding whether the hours set forth in an attorney's invoice are justified. <u>Briggs v. District of Columbia</u>, 102 F. Supp. 3d 164 (2015). Simply because the attorney claims that he or she has spent the time is not sufficient to justify award of the requested fees. <u>See Dickens v. Friendship-Edison</u>

P.C.S., 724 F. Supp. 2d 113, 124-25 (D.D.C. 2010) (holding that entries such as "conference with parent" and "telephone call to DCPS" were vague, and reducing overall fee award by ten percent); Clark v. District of Columbia, 674 F. Supp. 2d 149, 158-59 (D.D.C. 2009) (holding that time entries such as "preparation for hearing" or "preparation for school visit" were too vague and thereby reducing the overall fee award by twenty-five percent); Coleman v. District of Columbia, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 32743, 2007 WL 1307834, at *7 (D.D.C. May 3, 2007) (holding that entries such as "conference with co-counsel" lacked sufficient detail). In re Estate of Delaney, 819 A.2d 968 (2003) (court to make detailed analysis of fees requested). See also, Baker v. D.C. Pub. Sch., 815 F. Supp. 2d 102 (2011); Kingsberry v. District of Columbia, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16123, 2005 WL 3276193, at *4 (D.D.C. Aug. 9, 2005); Miller v. Holzmann, 575 F. Supp. 2d 2. In this case it would have been virtually impossible for the court to make an independent determination of the fee request given the paucity of the information provided by Santorini.

In this matter, Santorini's motion for attorneys' fees did not provide sufficient accounting and billing information in order for the trial court to determine the reasonableness of the fees requested. Santorini's Client Ledger redacted information that showed the *actual* work that was provided on the case. In addition, the submitted ledger failed to clearly show the amount of hours worked on each matter, the hourly fee that was charged, or an accounting for the total number of hours the firm spent allegedly providing work on behalf of Santorini for this case.

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