NO. 22-CV-34

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Clerk of the Court Received 06/13/2022 11:20 AM Resubmitted 06/13/2022 11:39 AM Filed 06/13/2022 11:39 AM

1814 INGLESIDE, LLC, et al.

Appellants,

V.

SANTORINI CAPITAL, LLC

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia NO. 2021 CA 000577 B

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

June 13, 2022

Roger C. Simmons (12195) Jacob R. Dziubla (1742874) Gordon & Simmons, LLC 1050 Key Pkwy, Suite 101 Frederick, MD 21702 (301) 662-9122 rsimmons@gordonsimmons.com Counsel for Appellee Santorini Capital, LLC

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

II. Motion for Summary Judgment.

As with a review of a motion to dismiss, a motion for summary judgment is reviewed *de novo* on appeal because an evaluation of whether a genuine dispute of a material fact exists and a party is entitled to judgment are issues involving questions of law. *Woodland v. Dist. Council 20,* 777 A.2d 795, 798 (D.C. 2001). Under Rule 56(c), summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* (citations omitted). The appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant and all reasonable inferences must be drawn in their favor. *Id.* (*citing Brown v. Consolidated Rail Corp.,* 717 A.2d 309, 311 (D.C. 1998)).

A material fact is "one which, under the applicable substantive law, is relevant and may affect the outcome of the case." *Rajabi v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 650 A.2d 1319, 1321 (D.C. 1994). The movant has the initial burden of proving that there is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute; after satisfying that burden, the burden then shifts to the non-moving party. *Bradshaw v. District of Columbia*, 43 A.3d 318, 323 (D.C. 2012) (*quoting Beard v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 587 A.2d 195, 198 (D.C. 1991)). The non-moving party has the burden to counter a motion for summary judgment with specificity. *Miller v. Am. Coal. of Citizens with Disabilities, Inc.*, 485 A.2d 186, 191 (D.C. 1984). This means that a nonmoving party must show more than a mere dispute of material facts. *See William J. Davis, Inc. v. Tuxedo, LLC*, 124 A.3d. 612, 624 (D.C. 2015) (citation omitted). To meet this standard, the nonmoving party must show that the fact is material and that there is "sufficient evidence supporting the claimed factual dispute to require" resolution by a trier of fact. *Id.* (citations omitted).

The purpose of summary judgment is "to pierce the boilerplate of the pleadings and assay the parties' proof in order to determine whether trial is actually required." *See Ayala-Gerena v. Bristol Myers-Squibb Co.*, 95 F.3d 86, 94 (1st Cir. 1996). (citations and quotations omitted). Summary judgment is "properly regarded not as a disfavored procedural shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the [Superior Court Rules] as a whole, which are designed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." *Mixon v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth.*, 959 A.2d 55, 58 (D.C. 2008) (quotations and citations omitted). To that end, District of Columbia courts have "recognized that summary judgment is vital." *Doe v. Safeway Inc.*, 88 A.3d 131, 133 (D.C. 2014).

III. Motion for Attorneys' Fees.

"[A] very strong showing of abuse of discretion" is required to overturn a trial court's decision as to a motion for attorneys' fees. *Steadman v. Steadman*, 514 A.2d 1196, 1200 (D.C. 1986) (*quoting Ritz v. Ritz*, 197 A.2d 155, 156-57 (D.C. 1964)). This review is "limited" because "disposition of such motions is firmly committed to the informed discretion of the trial court." *Id. quoting Smith v. Smith*, 445 A.2d 666,669 (D.C. 1982), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 1115, 74 L. Ed. 2d 968, 103 S. Ct. 749 (1983) (further citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The Superior Court Correctly Denied Ingleside/Harrison's Motion to Dismiss.

A. Santorini sufficiently pled claims for breach of contract against Ingleside and Harrison.

Santorini's Complaint consists of two counts, one against Ingleside and the other against Harrison, for breach of contract stemming from their default under a commercial loan from Santorini. App. at 14-15. The operative deed of trust notes, guaranty, and default letter, were attached as exhibits. *Id.* at 16-27. The factual narrative, as well as the application of those facts to the claims themselves, are plain and straightforward. In fact, the Motion to Dismiss, in which Ingleside/Harrison cite to Rule 12(b)(6) as the sole basis for bringing the Motion,² does not actually dispute

² After citing to Rule 12(b)(6), Ingleside/Harrison then state that, "It is defendants"

the legal sufficiency of the Complaint. Ironically, by focusing their Motion to Dismiss on an argument that is more appropriate in a motion for summary judgment, Ingleside/Harrison, not Santorini, fall short of their burden.

A complaint should be dismissed for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) only when "it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." Fingerhut v. Children's Nat'l Med. Ctr., 738 A.2d 799, 803 (D.C. 1999) (citations omitted). Stated differently, when a plaintiff fails to adequately plead the elements for a cause of action, then the complaint should be dismissed for failure to state a claim. See Jordan Keys & Jessamy, LLP v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 870 A.2d 58, 62 (D.C. 2005) (upholding trial court's granting of motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) because the complaint "does not allege the elements" of a cause of action). In the context of a breach of contract, a complaint at a minimum, show that "(1) a valid contract [existed] between the parties; (2) [there was] an obligation or duty arising out of the contract; (3) [there was] a breach of that duty; and (4) [there were] damages caused by the breach." Tsintolas Realty Co. v. Mendez, 984 A.2d 181, 187 (D.C. 2009) (internal citations omitted) (describing the minimum pleading requirements necessary to overcome a Rule 12(b)(6) motion directed at a breach of

position that plaintiff's Complaint does fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted at this time."

contract claim); *see also Francis v. Rehman*, 110 A.3d 615, 620 (D.C. 2015) (citation omitted) (a complaint sufficiently pleads a claim for breach of contract when it "describe[s] the terms of the alleged contract and the nature of the defendant's breach.").

Santorini's Complaint sufficiently pled each of these elements and, at a bare minimum, outlined the relevant terms of the contracts at issue, as well as Ingleside/Harrison's breach. The Complaint demonstrates that the parties entered into valid contracts on October 2, 2017, in the form of two promissory notes in favor of Santorini. App. at 13, ¶ 7. The consideration for these notes was a loan from Santorini to Ingleside for the purpose of acquiring real property located at 1814 Ingleside Terrace, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20010. Id. at ¶ 9. The notes required Ingleside to repay the loan beginning with interest payments on November 1, 2017, and provided that the entire debt is due and payable six months from the date of the execution of the Notes. Id. at ¶ 10-11. In Counts I and II, Santorini sets forth that Ingleside and Harrison failed to make payments as promised. Id. at 14 ¶ 15, 15 ¶ 25. Additionally, Santorini established a contractual basis for damages comprised of the loan principal, interest, attorneys' fees, and court costs. Id. at 3-4. The notes, guaranty, and default letter were each attached to the complaint as exhibits.

None of these elements were challenged by Ingleside/Harrison in their Motion to Dismiss. The sole basis offered by Ingleside/Harrison in support of that Motion is that Santorini is "prohibited from pursuing this breach of contract lawsuit" because it "failed to comply with the statute." *Id.* at 31-32. As discussed below, this is a nuanced factual issue that does not relate to the adequacy of the pleadings and, therefore, is not an issue that can be resolved through a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.

Accordingly, because Santorini satisfactorily pled a claim for breach of contract against Ingleside/Harrison, and because Ingleside/Harrison did not actually challenge the sufficiency of the Complaint, the Court correctly denied Ingleside/Harrison's Rule 12(b)(6) motion.

B. Santorini's compliance with a statute is a factual issue not appropriate for resolution by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.

Rather than using Rule 12(b)(6) for its proper purpose, Ingleside/Harrison argue, not that the Complaint itself is legally deficient, but that Santorini is "prohibited from pursuing this breach of contract lawsuit" because Santorini allegedly did not comply with a statute. *Id.* This, however, is a "factual defense that has nothing to do with the legal sufficiency" of the Complaint. *See American Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 472 A.2d 872, 874 (D.C. 1984). For this reason, Santorini was not required to preemptively negate this defense by pleading certain facts otherwise in the Complaint. *See* 5 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Fed. Practice and Procedure § 1276 (3d ed. 2002) ("The pleading requirements . . . do not compel a litigant to anticipate potential affirmative defenses, . . . and to affirmatively plead facts in avoidance of such defenses."). Resolution of a factual issue is best left to

other devices, such as motions for summary judgment, after the parties have had a chance to exchange discovery and adduce evidence to support their contentions.

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) tests whether or not a complaint sufficiently pleads the elements of a cause of action. *See Carey*, 754 A.2d at 954. In reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the only facts considered by the court are those contained within the four-corners of the complaint relative to the causes of action asserted. *See Smith*, 472 A.2d at *id*. ("The Rule 12(b)(6) motion ... is intended solely to test the legal sufficiency of the complaint.").

Sensibly, since the only facts at issue in a Rule 12(b)(6) motion are those which were raised in the complaint, such motions "may not rely on any facts that do not appear on the face of the complaint itself." *Id; followed by Luna v. A.E. Eng'g Servs., LLC,* 938 A.2d 744, 748 n. 13 (D.C. 2007) (*citing Smith,* 472 A.2d at 874). If a motion to dismiss relies upon facts outside of the complaint, the trial court has the option of treating the motion as a motion to dismiss or, alternatively, for summary judgment. *See Grimes v. District of Columbia,* 89 A.3d 107, 111 (D.C. 2014) ("A trial court is not required to convert a Rule 12 (b)(6) or Rule 12 (c) motion into a motion for summary judgment, however, as long as the court does not consider matters outside the pleadings."). A motion for summary judgment under Rule 56 requires a showing that there is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute. *Id.* at (a)(1). Importantly, a motion for summary judgment must refer to "particular parts

of materials in the record." *Id.* at (c)(1)(A). As a corollary, summary judgment is generally only appropriate *after* there has been an "adequate time for discovery." *See Kibunja v. Alturas, LLC,* 856 A.2d 1120, 1124 (D.C. 2004) (emphasis added) (*citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett,* 477 U.S. 317, 322, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986)). For this reason, courts are exceedingly hesitant to entertain pre-discovery motions for summary judgment, let alone grant them. *see Wilson v. Hunam Inn, Inc.,* 126 F. Supp. 3d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2015) ("Generally, courts are reluctant to consider a motion for summary judgment prior to discovery.") (*citing Convertino v. Dep't of Justice,* 684 F.3d 93, 99, 401 U.S. App. D.C. 297 (D.C. Cir. 2012)).³

Francis v. Rehman, involving a defendant's attempt to dismiss a breach of contract claim based on a plaintiff's alleged noncompliance with a section of the D.C. Code regulating the licensure of architects, is on point. 110 A.3d 615 (D.C. 2015). There, Francis entered into a contract with the Rehman to "design" a restaurant and nightclub in Washington, D.C. *Id.* at 617. Under the contract, Francis was required to procure the services of a licensed architect, which they in fact did. *Id.* at 617-18. The complaint alleges that Rehman did not fully pay the plaintiffs their compensation as set out in the terms of the deal. *Id.* Francis sued for breach of

³ This Court can look to federal cases interpreting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 for guidance. See Cormier v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth., 959 A.2d 658, 664 (D.C. 2008) ("... we think that Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 should be construed consistently with its federal counterpart.").

contract and unjust enrichment. Id. Rehman then moved to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). Id. In his motion, Rehman argued that plaintiff was not a licensed architect under the relevant provisions of the D.C. Code and, as a result, could not sue the defendant for breach of contract because the contract was void and unenforceable as a result of the "illegality." Id. at 619. The Superior Court granted the motion to dismiss. Id. On appeal, in describing the standard of review for a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, this Court cited a relevant case from California which stated that "... it is not necessary to allege and prove compliance with the act . . . but that noncompliance therewith is a matter of defense to be pleaded and proved by defendant in the action." Id. at 621 (quoting Harris v. Bucher, 25 Cal. App. 380, 143 P. 796 (Cal. Ct. App. 1914)). Reversing the lower court's ruling, this Court said that, "nowhere in the First Amended Complaint did appellants state that [plaintiff] is not licensed" and that, in any event, "[plaintiffs] were not required" to plead their compliance with the statute. Id. at 623. Finally, while raising facts outside the complaint may not automatically turn a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment, the Superior Court was nonetheless "obligated" to construe the motion as one for summary judgment because it considered those facts in reaching its decision. Id. at 624.

Similarly, in *Luna v. A.E. Eng'g Servs.*, LLC, 938 A.2d 744 (D.C. 2007), Luna sued a defendant-LLC and its officers for breach of contract and other similar causes of action for the defendants' allegedly improper installation of a boiler in Luna's

home. Id. at 746. The defendants filed a motion to dismiss relating to one of the entity's officers. Id. at 748. The basis for their motion was that the officer could not be personally liable based on the corporate status of the limited liability company of which the officer belonged to and because of the officer's limited individual role in the functions of the entity. Id. The trial court granted the motion to dismiss and this Court reversed. Id. In explaining its reasoning, this Court first reviewed the allegations made in the complaint and determined that the "extent of [the officer's] participation and responsibility . . . was a quintessential question of fact that could not be answered at the pleading stage" and that the trial court "acted prematurely" in granting the dismissal. Id. Relying on Smith, 472 A.2d, this Court found that the granting of the motion to dismiss effectively "den[ied]" the allegations against the defendant even though the motion "raised a *factual* defense which had nothing to do with the legal sufficiency" of the complaint. Id. at 748-49 (emphasis added) (citation and internal quotations omitted).

Unlike the trial court's actions in *Francis* and *Luna*, the Superior Court in this case properly denied Ingleside/Harrison's motion to dismiss. In that Motion, which was filed before any discovery had been conducted in the case and prior to the Superior Court's scheduling order,⁴ Ingleside/Harrison cite to facts that are not found

⁴ The Initial Scheduling Order in this case was issued on March 1, 2021, and did not contain any dates for discovery. By contrast, the Scheduling Order issued on May 21, 2021 (after the Motion to Dismiss was denied on May 3, 2021),

anywhere in the Complaint. To wit, they accuse Santorini of "fail[ing] to offer a payment plan in compliance with the mortgage deferment requirements." App. at 31. To support this narrative, they include a letter from Santorini to Ingleside/Harrison as an exhibit. *Id.* This letter was not attached to, or referenced at all, in Santorini's Complaint. Based on their reliance on allegations extraneous to the Complaint itself, Ingleside/Harrison's Motion to Dismiss was merely a one-sided attempt to resolve a factual issue which has nothing at all to do with the adequacy of Santorini's pleadings. Put another way, their Motion to Dismiss is actually a premature motion for summary judgment in disguise.

The Superior Court, however, correctly declined to treat the Motion to Dismiss as one for summary judgment and appropriately denied the Motion by discarding any facts not raised in the Complaint. *See* Docket No. 24. Emphasizing Ingleside/Harrison's improper use of Rule 12(b)(6), the Court aptly noted that Ingleside/Harrison "cite to no other law to support their contention that this matter must be dismissed." *Id.* Given that the legal sufficiency of the Complaint has not actually been challenged by Ingleside/Harrison, and given their attempted end-run around the proper use of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the Superior

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